GREGORY CAPEHART,

PLERK, SUPPLEME COLLECT

Deputy Clerk

vs.

:

Case No. 74,231

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Appellant,

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

ROBERT F. MOELLER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 24, 1988, a Pasco County grand jury returned a two-count indictment against Appellant, Gregory Capehart. (R842-843) The first count charged Appellant with the premeditated murder of Marlene Reaves¹ by suffocating her with a pillow. (R842) Count II charged burglary of Reaves' dwelling, during which Appellant made a battery upon her. (R842) The offenses allegedly occurred between February 3 and 4, 1988. (R842)

Appellant filed a motion on September 27, 1988, seeking to suppress a confession he allegedly made to Tom Muck and Gene Caruso of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office on April 12, 1988. (R932-933) By order dated February 13, 1989, the Honorable Maynard F. Swanson granted the motion and suppressed Appellant's "confession, including any testimony, writing or tape recording regarding same and any other evidence against [Appellant] obtained as an indirect or direct result" thereof. (R935)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial on February 20-23, 1989, with Judge Swanson presiding. (R1-792) Appellant unsuccessfully moved for a judgment of acquittal at the conclusion of the State's case. (R513-516) On February 22, 1989, the jury returned a verdict finding Appellant guilty of murder in the first degree as charged by the indictment. (R649, 906) As to Count II, the jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser included crime of burglary of

The name of the victim herein is spelled two different ways in the record on appeal: "Reaves" and "Reeves." Appellant will employ the "Reaves" spelling in his brief.

a residence "without the intent to commit an assault therein." (R649, 907)

Penalty phase, at which both the State and Appellant presented additional evidence, was held on February 23, 1989. (R654-792) By a vote of seven to five the jury recommended that the court sentence Appellant to death. (R783, 871) The court ordered a presentence investigation. (R791-792, 872)

Appellant filed a motion for new trial (R908-909), which Judge Swanson heard on April 4, 1989, and denied. (R807-819, 910)

On April 11, 1989, the court adjudicated Appellant guilty of murder in the first degree and sentenced him to death. (R838, 911, 917-919) He sentenced Appellant to 15 years in prison on the burglary count. (R839, 911, 920-921)

In his written findings pertaining to the sentence of death, the court found the following aggravating circumstances:

(1) Appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving violence to a person, to-wit: aggravated assault and armed robbery. (R912) (2) Appellant was engaged in a sexual battery or burglary when he committed the homicide. (R912-913) (3) Appellant's commission of the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R913) (4) The homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R914) The court did not find any mitigating circumstances. (R914-916)

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on April 24, 1989. (R923-924)

On July 28, 1989, the State filed a notice of cross appeal of the "Pre-trial ruling granting the Defendant's Motion to Suppress Defendant's confession." (R954)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Marlene Reaves was 62 years old. (R407) She lived alone at 903 Claude Street in Dade City in duplex apartment Number 6. (R286, 301-302, 412, 479-480) She was completely illiterate. (R287, 406) She could not tell time or make change. (R406) (R409) Reaves had a did not know how to use the telephone. definite speech impediment. (R287, 411) When she got very excited it was hard for her to communicate. (R411) People took advantage of Reaves. (R408) She was once charged three dollars for a Coke. (R409-410) Her friend, Edith Snow, put a lock on Reaves' telephone because people in the neighborhood began using it to make long distance calls. (R409) Reaves kept many stuffed animals in her apartment. (R340) She always had her clock radio on. When Edith Snow and her husband made their daily visits to Reaves' residence, they made sure the clock was set right. (R412-413) Reaves was always clean and kept her house clean. (R407, 410) She suffered from Von Recklinghausen's disease, the same disease the Elephant Man had, which causes multiple tumors to develop on the skin and internal organs. (R391)

On February 3, 1988 Marlene Reaves ate supper with Edith Snow at Snow's residence. (R413) Snow invited Reaves to spend the night with her, but Reaves refused. (R413) Snow took her home about 5:30 to 6:00. (R413)

Reaves kept two sticks in each window of her apartment so that the windows could not be raised. (R414-416) When Snow left

Reaves that evening, every stick was in place. (R415-416) All the windows and doors were locked. (R414)

There were curtains on Reaves' bedroom window, but the middle part always stayed open, and one could see clearly into the bedroom from outside. (R416)

Robert Caruthers lived right next door to Marlene Reaves. (R302) He was in his kitchen drinking coffee between 4:40 and 6:00 on the morning of February 4, 1988 when he saw a person that appeared to be a man go by his windows in the direction of Reaves' apartment. (R303-304) This person was wearing an orangish-yellow detective coat or trench coat and a light brown fedora. (R305, 308) The man was about a head shorter than Caruthers, who was five feet, nine and one-half inches tall. (R310) He was not fat. (R310) Caruthers did not see the person's face because it was too dark outside, and had no idea whether he was black or white. (R304) Caruthers had some idea Marlene Reaves was hurt, as he heard a noise of some kind coming from that direction between 3:30 and 5:30. (R312)

Rebecca Henry was another neighbor of Marlene Reaves. (R286) She lived in apartment number 3. (R286) On the morning of February 4, 1988, Henry had what she described as the "most terrible experience of [her] life." (R288) She was awakened from a sound sleep around 5:00 by someone mashing a cushion down tightly on her face. (R288) It was dark outside, but in the apartment it was semi-dark and semi-light. (R292) The TV was on in the adjoining living room. (R292) The first thing the person who

entered Henry's apartment said to her was: "I want your money." (R289) He was a black man, a little taller than Henry's five foot eight, and a little heavier than her 150 pounds. (R290) He had something, apparently one of Henry's pillowcases, tied around his face, just under his nose. (R289-290) Henry told him she did not have any money, but he said, "'Yes, you have'." (R290-291) Henry explained that all her money was in the bank and offered to write a check for \$50.00, but the man was not interested. Ultimately, Henry lied and told the man her money was in her trunk, which was in the living room part of the apartment, right outside the bedroom door. (R291) The man went to the trunk and "pilfered around" in it a little. (R292) Henry had gotten close to him because she had in mind to get around him and head for her front door. (R293) But the man took her arm and said, "You're not going anywhere." (R293) He took out a big switchblade from his pocket and touched her with it on the arm and right leg. (R294) The man took Henry back into the bedroom and had her on the bed and was choking her with his hands. (R294-296) She closed her eyes and held her breath. (R296) She was "out" momentarily. (R297) That was when the man left. (R296) Henry got up and went to the doorway between the bedroom and the living room. (R297) thought she saw the man's feet and legs under her chair in the living room, and was really frightened, but it was just her mind or her eyes playing tricks on her; he was gone. (R297) Henry did not know how the man left or how he had come in. (R297) She went to the front door and called for Robert Caruthers. (R297-298)

came and Henry called the sheriff's department. (R297-298) A deputy arrived in less then half an hour. (R300)

Pasco County Deputy Sheriff Jeffrey Clark arrived at Rebecca Henry's residence at approximately 7:30 on the morning of February 4, 1988 in response to her claim that someone had broken into her home and forcibly taken money from her. (R313-314) He spoke with Robert Caruthers, and then conducted a neighborhood check to see if any other residents in the area might have seen someone enter Henry's apartment. (R314) In the course of his neighborhood check Clark went to Marlene Reaves' residence. (R314) He knocked, but received no response. (R314, 321) The door was shut. (R315) Clark looked through the window, but could not see anything because of the drapes. (R315) He went around to the side and noticed that a screen had been taken off the window and laid up against the side of the house. (R315, 321) The window was "partially open a little bit," as it had not come down evenly. (R321)² The glass was not broken. (R321) Clark looked in the window and saw a white female body lying on the bed. (R315) He went around to the front door and tried it. (R316) The door knob would not turn, but the door pushed open a little. (R316, 323) Clark encountered resistance to opening the door because of items such as pillowcases that had come out of the closet and were lying on the floor against the door. (R316) He entered the residence

² Another State witness, Crime Scene Technician Brian McMillan of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, testified that the window was "open fully" as shown on a videotape of the crime scene, and that Deputy Clark had told him the window was open when Clark arrived at the scene. (R355-356)

very carefully and went to the bedroom, where he had the same problem opening the door because of items behind it. (R316-317) The whole house seemed ransacked. (R318) There were things thrown about. (R318) Clark had seen things strewn around Rebecca Henry's residence as well, but the ransacking there was not as extensive. (R318, 323)

In the bedroom Clark saw the face part of the body covered with a pillow. (R317) Clark testified at Appellant's trial that Reaves' underwear was pulled halfway down the legs, approximately to the knees, and there was no other clothing on the body (R317-318), but other evidence indicated that Reaves' underwear was completely off her left leg (R343), and that she was also wearing a nightgown and a brassiere that had been pushed up over her breasts. (R353, 388) Clark found no signs of life. (R317) He exited the house and secured the area. (R318)

A videotape of the scene showed shoe impressions outside the front door to Reaves' apartment (R338), and sand and what appeared to be a footprint under her bedroom window. (R342) An unplugged clock/radio showed a time of approximately 4:17 a.m. (R342)

A partial palm print lifted from Marlene Reaves' window screen matched Appellant's right palm print. (R346, 480-482, 485)³ Other prints were obtained at Reaves' residence and Rebecca

³ On redirect examination of the State's fingerprint expert, Pasco County Sheriff's Deputy William Ferguson, the prosecutor asked if it was not a fact that the Florida Department of Law Enforcement told Ferguson the print on the screen matched (continued...)

Henry's residence, but none of them was identified as matching Appellant's prints. (R349, 488-490)

Microscopic evidence, hair and lint, was removed from Reaves' body. (R504) Three unidentified hair samples were sent to the laboratory. (R505) Of all microscopic evidence submitted to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, no Negroid hairs were found. (R505) In fact, FDLE found no hairs dissimilar from the hair of Reaves. (R512)

Human blood was found on Reaves' panties, but the blood could not be further typed because it was of insufficient quantity.

(R369-371) Fingernail scrapings from Reaves' hands failed to give chemical indications for the presence of blood. (R372-373)

Reaves' nightgown and swabs from her labia, anal area, vaginal area and mouth failed to give chemical indications for the presence of semen. (R371-373)

The forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy on Marlene Reaves, Dr. John C. Gallagher, died prior to Appellant's trial. (R379-383) Therefore, Dr. Joan Wood, Chief Medical Examiner for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, testified concerning the results of the autopsy. (R376-403) Her testimony was admitted over defense objections that there was no proper predicate therefore without Dr. Gallagher's autopsy report also being admitted. (R384-385, 399-400)

^{3(...}continued)
Appellant's prints. (R491) Over defense objection Ferguson
testified, "They confirmed it was a positive match." (R491-492)

The autopsy revealed that there were pinpoint hemorrhages in Marlene Reaves' left upper eyelid and the lining of her left eye. (R385-386) Her right nostril was flattened and the right side of her nose appeared pale. (R386) There was a very tiny area on her neck where the skin was rubbed off, and some small areas on the chest where the skin was rubbed off, which could have been created by the pulling upward of her brassiere. (R386-388) Reaves also had injuries to her sexual organs, the infliction of which Dr. Wood opined would have been painful. (R386-390) Dr. Wood concluded that the cause of the injuries to Reaves' genitalia was a sexual assault that occurred in the period of a few minutes before her death. (R390-391, 397) The blood on Reaves' underwear probably resulted from a finger or hand being inserted into her vaginal area before the underwear was removed from one leg. (R401-403) The internal examination did not reveal significant trauma. (R392-393) The cause of Marlene Reaves' death was asphyxiation due to smothering. (R394) If constant pressure was applied, it might have taken five minutes or a little longer, but less then ten minutes, for Reaves to die, but she would have remained conscious for only one to two minutes. (R396-397, 400) Reaves' vitreous potassium level indicated that she died between 11:41 p.m. and 4:41 (R398-399)a.m.

Diane Harrison knew of Appellant, but he was not a social friend of hers. (R420) On February 4, 1988, Harrison went by the little duplex apartment complex on Claude Street and saw some people exiting that area. (R421-423) There were three people in

one group who were young, like school kids, and another person by himself wearing a long black trench coat and a hat. (R423-424) Harrison recognized the lone individual as Appellant. (R424) On deposition Harrison said she did not know for a fact that the person she saw was Appellant and could not say for sure it was him, but she knew it looked like him. (R430) The court sustained several State objections to defense attempts to question Harrison regarding the difference between her deposition testimony and her trial testimony. (R431)

Carol McPhail also knew Appellant. (R436) She saw him on approximately February 5, 6, or 7, 1988, on the street and asked, "Why you do that to that woman?" (R435-437) Appellant looked at her and asked, "'What you talking about?'" (R437) McPhail replied, "You know what I'm talking about." (R437) Appellant said, "'Well, they ain't going to catch me.'" (R437) McPhail walked on and did not see or talk to Appellant after that. (R437)

Walter Harrison, Diane Harrison's cousin, had known Appellant all his life. (R442-443)⁴ Harrison was with Appellant on Friday afternoon, the day after Marlene Reaves' body was found. (R444) They went from Dade City to Brooksville together. (R444-445) During the ride they discussed the murder. (R445) Harrison had heard that the police were looking for a man with a black trench coat. (R445) Harrison had given Appellant his black trench

⁴ At the time of Appellant's trial, Harrison was an inmate at Lancaster Correctional Institution. (R441) He had been in prison for about a month. (R441-442)

coat for Appellant to use. (R445) Harrison asked Appellant "did he do it[?]" (R445) Appellant "said he did it but he didn't mean (R445) Appellant explained that he broke into the to do it." house through a window to get money. (R446-447) He was intending to just take something out of the house without hurting the lady, but she woke up. (R446) Appellant said he tried to knock her out with a pillow over her face, but he accidentally killed her. (R446) Appellant did not seem to be serious, and Harrison did not believe him. (R446-447) That same night Harrison asked Appellant about it again, and "he said he was just kidding. He said he didn't. He was just bull jiving with [Harrison]." (R448-449) Appellant just wanted to see what Harrison was going to say. (R448)

In the early morning hours of April 12, 1988, David McKinnon, a patrol officer for the City of Orlando, stopped a car driven by Appellant for a civil traffic infraction. (R464-465) When McKinnon ran Appellant's name through the Florida and national crime computer, he was advised that there was a warrant out of Pasco County for Appellant's arrest for first-degree murder. (R465-466) Pursuant to that warrant, McKinnon arrested Appellant and placed him in his cruiser. (R466) Appellant began making statements without being questioned. (R466) He said he was with some "dudes" who were "going to rob this old lady." (R466) Appellant was on the porch. (R466) When the others did not come out for awhile, Appellant went inside. (R466) That is when he "saw the one dude sitting on top of the lady, strangling her."

(R466) Appellant said he did not know how they got him, he must have left his fingerprints on the bedroom door. (R466) Appellant also said words to the effect of "'Man, I didn't know they were going to kill her.'" (R468)

On April 12, Tom Muck and Gene Caruso of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office transported Appellant from Orlando to the Pasco County Jail. (R461-462, 498)

Muck was getting gas at the Pasco County detention facility on October 7, 1988, when he heard Appellant hollering, "Tom Muck. Tom Muck." (R499) Appellant said to Muck, "'Remember me? I'm the guy you brought back from Orlando.'" (R500) Muck said, "Greg Capehart." (R500) Appellant said, "'Yeah. You messed me up.'" (R500) Muck said, "I don't know what you're talking about." (R500) Appellant said, "'You know, I just wanted that girl's pussy.'" (R500) That scared Muck and a shock wave went up his spine. (R500) He jumped in his car and went directly to the office. (R500)

The prosecutor was permitted over objection to ask Muck whether, based upon his review of the file and his knowledge of this case, there was anything that would tend to corroborate Appellant's statements that there was somebody else with him at Marlene Reaves' residence when she was raped, robbed and killed. (R501-503) Muck replied, "Absolutely none. As a matter of fact, he flat out lied to the officer from Orlando." (R503)

The defense presented no testimony or evidence at the guilt phase. (R517)

Appellant's Letter to the Court

Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase of Appellant's trial, Judge Swanson announced that he had received a letter from Appellant. (R657) The judge read the letter to himself in open court and said generally what was referred to in the letter, but did not read it into the record. (R658-659)

Among other things Appellant's letter complained about the all-white makeup of his jury, and said that Appellant's trial attorney "did not put up a very good defense." (R952) Appellant alleged that during closing argument his lawyer "spoke as if he was trying to prosecute" Appellant. (R952) Appellant concluded that he had been "misrepresented," and that this had a great impact on his case. (R952) The letter therefore asked the court to relieve his lawyer of his duties and appoint another lawyer to represent Appellant. (R953)⁵

After asking Appellant if he had anything to add to the request made in the letter and receiving a negative response, the court addressed the matters raised in the letter, and denied Appellant's request for new counsel. (R659-661)

Penalty Phase

Through the testimony of Deputy Sheriff William Ferguson, the State put into evidence a judgment and sentence showing Appellant's conviction for robbery, grand theft and aggravated

⁵ The letter indicated that a friend had helped Appellant by putting it "in the words [Appellant] had in mind to say." (R952)

assault in 1986 (R664-665, 939-951), and a photograph of Marlene Reaves as she was found. (R666) The State then rested. (R667)

Appellant's mother, Shirley Capehart, was the first defense witness. (R668-669) Appellant was born in August, 1967. (R670) He had two siblings. (R669-670) Shirley Capehart divorced Appellant's father in 1968 or 1969. (R669-670)

Mrs. Capehart had always worked, leaving a neighbor or babysitter to take care of appellant. (R674)

Shirley's husband was always drinking. (R671) He did not pay attention to Appellant when he was a child. (R670) He committed acts of violence on Appellant, hurting him once. (R670)

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