LCU	ÿ
Ľ	I E D	ļ

. ---

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 11 1990

BLERK SUPREME CON By Deputy Clerk

GREGORY CAPEHART,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 74,231

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

### ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 327832 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

/aoh

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: A confession of committing a crime is direct, not circumstantial, evidence of that crime. In the instant case, the defendant's palm print was wrapped around the window screen to Marlene Reeves' apartment. Diane Harris saw the defendant, wearing a black trench coat and hat, coming from the area of the victim's apartment between 6:30 and 7:00 a.m. on the morning of the homicide. Victim Marlene Reeves' neighbor, Rebecca Henry, was attacked by a black man in her apartment on the morning of the murder. Robert Caruthers observed an individual wearing a trench coat and hat walking toward the victim's apartment on the morning of the murder. In addition, the defendant advised Carol McPhail, "Well, they ain't going to catch me." Capehart told Walter Harrison that he broke into the house through a window to get money without meaning to hurt the lady, but she woke up. The defendant told Harrison that he tried to knock her out with a pillow over her face, but he accidently killed her. Further, the defendant's unsolicited statement to Officer Tom Muck that he "just wanted the girl's pussy" was consistent with the sexual assault on victim Marlene Reeves.

Issue II: During redirect, a witness may be questioned about matters brought up during cross-examination, and the trial court has broad discretion to determine the proper scope of the examination of the witness. Sub judice, the trial court properly found the testimony admissible inasmuch as the defense clearly "opened the door" to this line of inquiry. Issue III: The defense did not object, move to strike, or request a curative instruction directed to the response by Officer Muck. Therefore, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. Furthermore, it was not error for the prosecutor to inquire of the investigating officer whether he found any corroboration for the defendant's self-serving statements.

Issue IV: This issue has not been preserved for appellate review, since the defendant did not proffer the excluded testimony for the record. Even if the argument is considered, the trial court properly sustained objections to the defense attorney's attempt to get a state witness to admit that prior statements from her deposition were inconsistent with her incourt testimony, since such testimony would have invaded the province of the jury.

Issue V: In general, whether the facts and data relied upon by the experts are in evidence, or even could be in evidence, are not relevant; the only relevant inquiry is whether the facts or data are of a type reasonably relied upon by the experts in the subject to support the opinion expressed.

Issue VI: The defendant now complains that the jury's verdict form is ambiguous and will not support a conviction for burglary. There was no objection at trial to either the verdict form or the instructions to the jury on this count; and, therefore, this issue has not been preserved for appeal.

Issue VII: In the instant case, where the defendant made no objection at any stage of trial as to purportedly improper materials under <u>Booth</u> and <u>Gathers</u>, appellate relief is precluded. -xiii - <u>Issue VIII</u>: In the instant case, the defendant was not entitled to an inquiry under <u>Faretta</u> because he clearly was not interested in representing himself. The defendant herein merely alleged his dissatisfaction and general loss of confidence and trust. Such statements do not trigger a <u>Nelson</u> inquiry because they do not "amount to an assertion of counsel's incompetence requiring exploration or verification as a predicate for substitution" Furthermore, a <u>Nelson</u> inquiry is not required when a motion to discharge counsel is not made until after the jury has been empaneled.

Issue IX: The defendant's failure to object at the time of the testimony of Dr. Sprehe and Dr. Merin precludes any subsequent complaint about their testimony. Furthermore, the now-challenged testimony at bar was admissible to rebut the testimony of defense expert Dr. Epstein.

Issue X: It is clear from the record of this case and, indeed, the defendant does not contend otherwise, that no objection based upon <u>Caldwell</u> was offered at trial. Thus, this claim is procedurally barred where not objected to at trial. Absent fundamental error, the failure to object to the jury instruction at trial precludes appellate review.

Issue XI: The trial court's error in referring to appellant's prior conviction as armed robbery is harmless as the aggravating factor was proven beyond a reasonable doubt and inasmuch as no objection was made to the jury instruction. Further, the jury's verdict on the burglary charge does not undermine the court's finding that the Defendant was engaged in a sexual battery or burglary when he committed the homicide. Both crimes were sufficiently established by the evidence. The evidence also supported the court's finding of heinous, atrocious or cruel and cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstances and no objection was made to the form of the instruction on these factors.

The trial judge's finding that no mitigating circumstances existed is also well-supported by the record and the law. The defendant only challenges the court's failure to find certain non-statutory mitigators. Counsel below did not identify these same factors to the trial court. The non-statutory evidence that was identified by the defendant was not supported by the record. Based on the foregoing, the trial court's analysis and findings are sufficient to support the sentence of death.

Issue XII: Remand for preparation of a scoresheet is unwarranted because the trial court could have, and undoubtedly would have, departed upward to the statutory maximum for the noncapital felony on the basis of the unscored conviction for firstdegree murder.

<u>Cross-Appeal</u>: The perfunctory, routine appointment of the Public Defender at the defendant's first appearance proceeding did not preclude the transporting officers from advising the defendant of his <u>Miranda</u> rights and obtaining statements from the defendant following his voluntary waiver of Miranda.

- xv -

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

### SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED AT TRIAL TO ESTABLISH THAT IT WAS THE DEFENDANT, GREGORY CAPEHART, WHO KILLED MARLENE REEVES.

The purpose of a motion for judgment of acquittal is to challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence. In moving for a judgment of acquittal, the defendant admits all facts adduced from the evidence and every conclusion favorable to the State that fairly can be inferred therefrom. A trial court should not grant a motion for judgment of acquittal unless the evidence is such that no lawful view of the evidence would sustain the charge and neither credibility determinations nor the probative force of the evidence should be determined in a motion for judgment of acquittal. <u>Spinkellink v. State</u>, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975); Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974).

The defendant claims that the evidence presented against him was purely circumstantial. Although the defendant's confession to law enforcement was suppressed, on the basis of an alleged  $\underline{\text{Miranda}^{\underline{1}}}$  violation,  $\underline{^2}$  the remaining evidence against the defendant included, *inter alia*, not only the defendant's palm print, but also the defendant's confession to Walter Harrison and incriminating statements to Carol McPhail, David McKinnon, and

- $\frac{1}{100}$  Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).
- 2 See, Cross-Appeal, infra.

Tom Muck. A confession of committing a crime is direct, not circumstantial, evidence of that crime. <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1071, 1075 (Fla. 1988).

The question of whether the evidence fails to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the jury to determine and where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury's verdict, the verdict will not be reversed on appeal. Cochran v. State, 547 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1989). Even in a circumstantial evidence case, the jury is not required to believe the defense version of facts on which the State has produced conflicting evidence, and the State, as Appellee, is entitled to a view of any conflicting evidence in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict. Id., at 930 citing Buenoano v. State, 478 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), review dismissed, 504 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1987).

In the instant case, the fingerprint expert confirmed that the defendant's right palm print was recovered from the victim's window screen. The palm print was a "wrap-around" print, left by grabbing the window screen and cupping his palm around it. (See R. 482-483; 485). The defendant's reliance on the fact that his prints were not recovered from inside the victim's apartment is unpersuasive. The victim lived in the apartment and yet none of her prints were recovered from inside the residence. (R. 484). Diane Harris saw the defendant, who was wearing a black trench coat and a hat, coming from the area where the victim's apartment was located between 6:30 and 7:00 a.m. on the morning of the

- 2 -

homicide. (R. 422-424). Robert Caruthers observed an individual wearing a trench coat and hat walking toward the victim's apartment on the morning of the murder. (R. 305). Victim Marlene Reeves' neighbor, Rebecca Henry, was attacked by a black male on the morning of the murder. (R. 290). In addition, the defendant advised Carol McPhail, "Well, they ain't going to catch me." Capehart told Walter Harrison that he broke into the house through a window in order to get money, but the lady woke up. (R. 446-447). The defendant told Harrison that he tried to knock out the victim by holding a pillow over her face, but he accidently killed her. (R. 446).

When arrested in Orlando by Officer McKinnon, Capehart volunteered that he was with some "dudes" who were going to rob this old lady. (R. 446). The defendant claimed to be waiting on the porch, but when the others did not come outside, Capehart went inside and saw ". . . dude sitting on top of the lady, strangling her" (R. 446). The defendant said he didn't know how they got him, he must have left his fingerprints on the bedroom door. Capehart also said words to the effect of "Man, I didn't know they were going to kill her." (R. 468). On April 12, Officer Tom Muck and Officer Gene Caruso of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office transported Capehart from Orlando to the Pasco County Jail. (R. 461-462, 498). Six months later, on October 7, 1988, Officer Muck was at the Pasco County Detention Facility when Capehart told him ". . . You messed me up." (R. 500). When Muck said, "I don't know what you are talking about", Capehart

- 3 -

relied, "You know, I just wanted that girl's pussy." (R. 500). Capehart's voluntary exclamation was confirmed by the physical evidence of sexual assault against the victim, Marlene Reeves, and was inconsistent with the Rebecca Henry burglary. Where the State has brought forth competent evidence to support every element of the crime, a judgment of acquittal is not proper. *Sub judice*, the evidence presented in the instant case was sufficient to withstand a motion for judgment of acquittal and to support the jury's verdict of first degree murder.

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE STATE'S EXPERT WITNESS ON FINGERPRINT IDENTIFICATION TO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT HIS FINGERPRINT IDENTIFICATION WAS CONFIRMED BY THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT.

The final question asked by the defense on cross-examination of the state's expert witness, Officer William Ferguson, was whether any of the fingerprints recovered from the scene were sent to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. Therefore, on redirect examination, the prosecutor inquired about the subject initiated by the defense:

MR. JORDAN [PROSECUTOR]:

Q. Deputy Ferguson, Mr. Ivie [Defense Counsel] just asked you whether or not the prints had been sent down to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement for examination.

A. Yes, sir. They were.

Q. Would the known prints of this defendant be sent down there?

Yes, sir.

Q. And was the print you took off that screen sent down there?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And isn't it a fact they told you it was a match? Didn't they?

MR. IVIE: Objection.

A. They confirmed it was a positive match.

MR. IVIE: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I'm sorry?

MR. IVIE: Move to strike question and answer.

MR. JORDAN: He opened the door, Judge, about other people examining it and I'm just going forward with it.

THE COURT: I'll deny the objection for that reason.

(R. 490-491).

Now on appeal, the defense claims that Detective Ferguson's testimony should have been excluded as hearsay. As evidenced by the foregoing excerpt, the defendant's hearsay-based argument was never presented to the trial court, and, therefore, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. See e.g., <u>Bertolotti v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987) [In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court. <u>Id</u>., at 1096 citing <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1984)]

During redirect, a witness may be questioned about matters brought up during cross-examination, and the trial court has broad discretion to determine the proper scope of the examination of the witness. <u>Harmon v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988). *Sub judice*, the trial court properly found the testimony admissible inasmuch as the defense clearly "opened the door" to this line of inquiry. *See, e.g.* <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1987) [Defense opened the door to inquiry; therefore, on redirect,

- 6 -

state allowed to elicit testimony to qualify, limit, or explain testimony elicited on cross.]; <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 359 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1978) [Appellant cannot initiate error and then seek reversal based on that error.] <u>Copeland v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1984). [Since the defendant's counsel opened the door to the damaging but objectionable reference by asking the question, Appellant may not now seek reversal on the basis of that error. <u>Id</u>. at 1018].

In the instant case, the defense sought to characterize the fingerprint expert as an inexperienced "rookie". The defense established that this was Officer Ferguson's first 1st degree murder case (R. 479) and the defense initiated the topic about which the defendant now complains. Therefore, the State was properly allowed to pursue questioning on redirect to respond to the defense-initiated topic and to rebut the defense attack on the witness' competence. See, e.g. Tompkins, 502 So.2d at 419, citing McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145, 1151-52 (Fla. 1980) (State properly entitled to transcend normal bounds of crossexamination in order to negate delusive innuendoes of defense counsel), cert. denied 454 U.S. 1041, 012 S.Ct. 583, 70 L.Ed.2d 486 (1981).

Lastly, the prosecutor's comment's during closing argument, noting that the FDLE confirmed Officer Ferguson's print match, was not objected to at trial and, therefore, has not been preserved for appeal. Wide latitude is accorded a prosecutor during closing argument and the control of the comments is within

- 7 -

the discretion of the trial court. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (FLA. 1982), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S.Ct. 1084, 74 L.Ed.2d 149 (Fla. 1982). The comments about which the defendant now complains were either based on evidence received during the trial, <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), and were either fair rebuttal or invited response to arguments presented by the defense, <u>DuFour v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1986).

#### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING OFFICER TOM MUCK TO INFORM THE JURORS THAT THERE WAS NO CORROBORATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S SELF-SERVING STATEMENTS THAT SOMEONE ELSE WAS WITH THE DEFENDANT WHEN THE VICTIM WAS RAPED, ROBBED, AND KILLED.

The testimony about which the defendant now complains was elicited during the direct examination of Officer Tom Muck:

[PROSECUTOR]:

Q. Okay. You've read the book, been deposed, you have looked at the pictures, you arrested Capehart. Among the things that are contained within the reports that you have reviewed, is there a report form an Officer McKinnon of the Orlando Police Department?

[OFFICER MUCK]

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And are you familiar with the statements McKinnon says Mr. Capehart made to McKinnon at the time he was arrested in Orlando?

A. I like to think I am. Yes, sir.

Q. Based upon your investigation, your review of the investigation and your knowledge of this case, is there any reason to believe that Mr. Capehart told McKinnon the truth about there being someone else besides Capehart involved in killing, raping and robbing Marlene Reeves?

A. Are you saying that I know or what I have read? What I know, what I have read?

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